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1.  Purpose:  To record my personal observations, as I remember them on 14 August, of the insider 
attack at the Marshal Fahim National Defense University (MFNDU) on 5 August 2014.    

2.  Chronology.  This report will be provided in mostly chronological order and will include those items 
that I feel may be relevant to any investigation of the events on that day.   

3.  Planning.   

 a.  I first learned of the event upon returning from TDY on or about 29 July 2014.  I understood 
that an engineer working meeting was to take place on August 4th to address MFNDU water issues that 
would help to prepare for an even bigger meeting with several generals on August 5th.  I was definitely 
concerned as I had heard there would be a part when the CPMD advisors would provide a presentation 
concerning the tashkil and the budget that supports MFNDU.   

 b.  I understood that and the UTAG organization had organized the event and were 
driving the need for the discussion.  I was surprised that so many generals were invited.  When I found 
out that BG Jackson, MG Bathurst, and MG Greene were invited, I suggested that MG Amiri also be 
invited.  I was told that he was already on the potential invitee list. 

 c.  On Sunday August 3rd, I invited MG Amiri to the meeting on the 5th.  I also told MG Amiri that 
and possibly even should attend the working meeting on the 4th and if 

possible the 5th as well.  MG Amiri confirmed with me that he would have 
at MFNDU on the 4th and they all would come on the 5th.   

 d.  On the morning of August 5th, I had heard that MG Greene and MG Wendell would be 30 
minutes late.  I called MG Amiri to tell him that the meeting was going to start 30 minutes late.  I spoke 
to his chief of staff – – who said that MG Amiri could not come.  He was called to a budget 
meeting being led by the Deputy Chief of the General Staff and was therefore unable to attend the 
meeting at MFNDU. 

4.  Attendees on the Day of the Meeting. 

 a.  On the day of the meeting, I was struck by how many generals were there.  They included MG 
Greene and MG Wendell; MG Bathurst and BG Bartscher; and a Brigadier from UTAG.  They all seemed 
to have their personal security teams (PST’s) with them.  From the ANA, the 2 star commander of 
MFNDU was there along with 2 or 3 of his one star deputies.   I had thought BG Jackson and MG Amiri 
would be there as well, but neither were able to attend.   

 b.  We had many attendees from CSTC-A CJ Engineer:  
, and our translator had also been told to attend, but he had 

a family engagement and was unable to come.  We had invited two CPMD colonels to attend –
and – who were both there.   

 c.  From USACE, I remember 
and several others.   
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5.  Immediately Prior to the Attack. 

 a.  For the 3rd stop of the day, we drove down towards the main entry control point.  We parked 
up on a slight hill and walked downhill approximately 100 meters to the entry control point.  There must 
have been at least 20 vehicles that were parked up on the hill.  From there, we were told that there was 
limited space at the actual site - where the 3” line goes into a buried water trailer.  This water trailer was 
in an enclosed building that was on the outside of the large T-wall barrier protecting the interior of 
MFNDU.  To get there required going through a small doorway and walking down a narrow path on the 
outside of the T-walls.  The building with the buried trailer was partly underground and relatively cool.   

 b.  I was with when we walked down towards the entry control point.  He was 
going to be briefing, so he had carried a briefing board with him with an enlarged slide on the board.  He 
said that he had gone to the buried tanker yesterday (Aug 4th) and had bumped his head due to the 
small opening to get in.  Because he had seen it and had no desire to squeeze through the opening, he 
stayed near the entry control point waiting for us to return. 

 c.  We went to the buried tanker and received a briefing from At the end of 
briefing, he asked if was there to brief the last part.  We told him that was up at 

the entry control point waiting for those in the small building to return to that area.  So, we all walked 
back up to the entry control point area. 

 d.  Once there, we created a semi-circle around .  He had his board set up, I believe on an 
easel in front of a concrete planter.  As and I are a team, I positioned myself approximately 3-4 
meters south of at the bottom end of the semi-circle– close enough that I could step in if there were 
any questions that I needed to answer.  There were concrete planters to the east of us – approximately 
0.7 meters high and 3 to 5 meters long.  There were several of these lining the road just behind Erik (to 
his east).   There was one next to me.  I also remember a post – probably a light post that I was leaning 
against. was next to me near the post.  I remember

straight across from me (to the north) at the other end – the top - of the semi-circle.  The rest 
of the crowd was around approximately 3-8 meters away from him in a semi-circle shape.  The 
generals were typically closer to the front.  The rest of the crowd was around the generals and around 
the board making up rest of the semi-circle.   

 e.  At site #2, which was the site of a well and water tanks, I specifically remember looking at the 
security around the group and being comfortable with the perimeter.  I do not remember doing such a 
scan at briefing site.  I do remember looking up at the Security guards up on the guard shack.  Just 
to the north of where was briefing, approximately 15 meters away, was a two story guard shack.  
On top were several guards.  I remember one very large, muscular guard, looking out over my head (to 
the south) with binoculars towards the outside of the camp.   

6. The Attack  

 a.  Right after finished briefing, the attack started.  I believe last words were – “this 
concludes my briefing, are there any questionsf?”  I remember what sounded like firecrackers going off 
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right in the middle of the semi-circle.  I saw dust flying up on the ground about 2 meters in front of 
It sounded just like an observer controller had walked up to the crowd and thrown firecrackers down to 
simulate an attack.   I quickly realized that someone must be shooting at us and jumped down on the 
west side of the concrete planter.  I had no idea from where the shots were coming.  I was just trying to 
get as low as possible with cover around me.  As I got down, others were right next to me.  I was next to 
a parked ANA pickup truck and contemplated briefly whether it was safer under the truck or against the 
planter.  I noticed someone had already crawled under the truck.  was on the ground right 
next to me. was just to our north also on the ground.   

 b.  Someone said something like “this sucks.”  I think mentioned that he was afraid 
something like this could happen.  I asked if everyone was alright and Erik said rather calmly that he was 
hit.  “What?” I think both and I asked at the same time.  “I’m hit.” said. and I 
crawled a couple of meters to him.  said he was hit in the leg, so checked out his wounds.  

also said that his eye was bleeding.  I checked his eye and saw that there was minor bleeding around 
his eye, but it didn’t look too bad. kept his eye shut and said he thought his legs would be ok, but 
he didn’t want to have a glass eye. checked entire body for wounds and found 3 holes 
in thighs – two on one leg and one on the other, none of which showed arterial bleeding which 
was a relief.  Because there was no arterial bleeding, we did not put on any tourniquets.      

 c.  The firing seemed to go very quickly.  I heard a long burst – much longer than the 3 to 5 
round bursts that we aim for.  That was the time when I jumped down behind the concrete planter.  I 
thought I heard screaming and people yelling to get down.  Then I heard another long burst.  Both went 
by very fast.  Because they sounded like popping firecrackers, I assumed it was an AK47, but I am not 
certain of that.  Shortly thereafter I heard more firing.  That is when and I were talking.  A 
very short time later, I thought I heard someone yell…”shooter’s down” or something to that effect.  I 
also saw behind the planters to my north.   

7.  Evacuating the Wounded to Qargha 

 a.  With injuries, I knew we needed some bandages for first aide.  My IFAK was up with my 
gear in our truck.  I yelled for a medic but didn’t see anyone who fit that description.  Because I had 
heard someone yell “shooter down” and had not heard any firing, I looked over the planter and saw 
many people on the ground with others around them beginning to apply first aid.  There seemed to be 
some horrible injuries with much blood around.  I remember seeing going from casualty 
to casualty.  I realized I wasn’t going to get any help from a medic for wounds and went looking for 
a medical kit.  After not having any luck, I returned to and told him that I was going to get a 
vehicle to evacuate and the others. remained with and continued to treat him.  I 
went up the hill and saw 3 people sitting, parked in a white SUV.  I hit their hood, pointed, and told them 
to get their truck down to the kill zone (KZ) and begin evacuating people.  I directed other trucks to get 
down there and then followed the trucks to help load people inside them.   

 b.  People were loading injured people as fast as we could get vehicles down there.  I remember 
helping to get in a vehicle.  I remember helping to move several others (perhaps 4) and just lending 
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CERTIFIED 

CERTIFIED 
 

a hand where I could. the British aid, was in a very bad way as he was being loaded into one 
vehicle.  The NTV vehicles were not well suited for casualties.   

 c.  After everyone was loaded and gone, I checked the kill zone site for any weapons, radios, or 
other sensitive items and did not see any.  I saw medical gear strewn all over the place. I then went back 
up the hill.  Most of the vehicles were already gone, having been used to evacuate the wounded or 
follow them to Qargha.  I saw next to his vehicle.  I went to him and asked if he was ok and 
where was.   He was fine but didn’t know about .  I looked back towards 
the KZ and saw being helped up the hill.  I was very surprised, as I had thought I had 
surveyed the area and didn’t see anyone.  It looked like he had been shot just above the right knee.  I 
helped him get into an ANA pickup truck.  From there the ANA truck took off, and I did not see

after that until later that week.   

 d. ended up going to the National Military Hospital where he was treated.   His 
wound was a shrapnel wound where metal pieces had gone deep into his thigh just above the knee.  I 
know this because we visited him at the hospital on 8/8/2014. 

 e.  After getting in a truck, I went further up the hill towards our truck. 
was up at the truck waiting for me with and I believe .  We donned our 

armor, got in the truck, and drove roughly two miles to Qargha where we were allowed right in.  Once at 
Qargha, we went to the medical center.  We were told to stay outside, but I went inside anyway.   

 

8.  Helping at the Qargha Medical Clinic.   

 a.  At the Qargha medical clinic, we went inside and found His leg wounds had 
been wrapped and his right eye was covered with a bandage.  He was talking with us and seemed to be 
managing the pain ok.  There were roughly 8 others in the rear area of the clinic where they were stable 
and waiting for evacuation to a hospital.  These 8 included BG Bartcher,

eventually the Translator, and a few others. 

 b.  An ANA Brigadier General was in the hospital, in the front area being treated for multiple gun 
wounds.  They asked for an interpreter and we offered up started to help, but began 
to feel worse and worse.  We brought him water but that did not seem to help.  We did not know it at 
the time, but had gone back into the guard shack when the shooting had started.  When in the 
shack, he realized that the shooting was louder and he jumped out a window with another coalition 
soldier.  They landed on each other, and injured his back.  So, back at the Qargha clinic, he was 
witnessing several severely injured people, I presume his adrenaline was starting to recede, and he was 
going into shock.  The medical personnel noticed this, treated him, and moved him back to the waiting 
room with the other stable soldiers who were waiting for evacuation.  Eventually, would be 
evacuated with several others to Bagram.   
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CERTIFIED 

CERTIFIED 
 

 c.  The front part of the hospital was filled with several severely injured people who had 
numerous medical people around them caring for them. I remember

and the ANA Brigadier General.  I believe there were others, and there was a flurry of 
activity as the medical personnel attempted to make them stable and prepare them for evacuation.   

 d.  I wondered what took the helicopters so long to arrive.  After we had been there awhile, I 
heard that it would be another 20 minutes before the first birds arrived.  I relayed that message to the 
people in the back.  They were all relatively stable and did not seem to be in pain, so the 20 minute 
message seemed ok to all of them.   

 e.  Once the birds seemed to be inbound, we all helped the wounded to get ready for 
evacuation.  We helped them to get into vehicles that took them to the LZ.  Once all casualties were 
gone from the hospital, we re-organized ourselves and prepared to move from Qargha back to ISAF.   

END OF STATEMENT 
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Telephonic interview at KAIA on 21 Aug 14 at 1200 

When we went inside the hallway, restroom was at the right side.  There was nobody in the restroom 
when he used it. 

He saw a couple of ANA soldiers that had their PT uniform on. 

He asked them where the bathroom was, and they showed him the bathroom. 

There was another room in the hallway. 

Doesn’t know if it was the same bathroom where the shooter was.

Went in the building that he used the bathroom (during the shooting). Gunfire was louder in the building.

He went inside the hallway of the big building.

It was the door that was closest to the street, closer to

The door faced the street when he entered. 

Bathroom that he used was on the right side of the hallway. 

He went back to the briefing after bathroom use. 

There were soldiers in the barracks.

He went in the door at the left side, because it was opened, there was another ANA soldier in PT uniform 
with civilian American.

He went in the same door (entrance door) as he used before to use the bathroom. 

Inside the hallway then went to the first door at the left.  It was a bedroom, there were two beds.

Same room where he climbed out the window. 

He was facing the vehicles?  Stairs were on the left, ran uphill towards the vehicles.

Soldier asked him to stay in the room.  Fire was louder in the building, asked ANA if he could jump out 
of the window. 

American person was a civilian.  Translated ANA speech to American person, and asked if he wanted to 
stay in the room.  He told him that he was going to jump out of the window. 

Fire stopped when he jumped out the window.  Didn’t hear any more fire, went towards the vehicles.  
Nobody there from his team, walked back towards the area, and saw from the ANA with 

.  He stopped by , then saw and went back to vehicle. 

Drove towards coalition forces base.  
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Medics were asking for interpreter and said he could interpret. ANA General got injured from his lower 
knee, doesn’t remember the ANA General’s name.  Medics took him ( ) over to another room and 
gave him an IV.

While he was being transported he could only hear the noises of the helicopter.  Doesn’t remember who 
was in the helicopter with him.  He stayed at BAF for 24 hours. 

He still has problems with his back.  Medic told him to go to civilian doctor, and is taking pain relievers.  
They’re not working very well.

He was in the crew with , he thought it was a firecracker, he didn’t know where the fire was 
coming from so he went inside the building.

Didn’t see any injured individuals in the building. 
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Statement of , MOD MAG HQ ISAF, Kabul, 20140807 1450  

1 
 

Q. Please list all of your team members who were present at Camp Qargha on 5 
August 2014.

A.  BG Bartscher, , 3 NCOs, CPT.

Q. Please describe your job, responsibilities, and level of experience.

A.  I’m the to the MOD G7 Training.  I’m at the strategic level.  I had 
accompanied BG Bartscher, the Deputy Advisor to the MOD, to the area before.  

is the MFNDU Commander’s Advisor.  is his deputy.

Q. Please describe your team’s security planning for this event.

A.  The CPT was there for security.  The CPT tries to coordinate with the British CPT, 
but there was no further coordination.  I saw Danish security.  I knew one week in 
advance about the trip.  I don’t know about the Afghans.

Q. Please describe any coordination with other organizational Personnel Security 
Detachments (PSDs) that your team conducted.

Q. Please describe your internal and external communication equipment.

A.  I don’t have knowledge of the communications.  Coordination was in-person.

Q. Please describe any rehearsals your team conducted.

A.  I received a course in Stavanger and I read materials here.  You can’t prevent this 
type of event.  

Q. Please provide a list of any of your team member who may have photos or videos.

A.  I have photos and I will share them.

Q. Please describe your team’s plan for MEDEVAC.

Q. Please describe the events and your actions from your arrival at Camp Qargha 
through your departure.

A.  We went to see the central water tank pumps where there were guards.  We walked 
between the Hesco barriers and the fence and we were out there for about 20 to 30 
minutes at the first place.  We were at the second place for about an hour.  Nobody was 
wearing armor and there was not a lot of security coordination.  We saw one or two 
Afghan training companies.  I saw the Danish on a roof but I didn’t see other security.  
In the background of the second stop, there was a live-firing range.  We were 
concerned about danger coming from the street outside the gate.  We grouped for about 
10-15 minutes while was briefing about infrastructure for future growth.  We were at 
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Statement of , MOD MAG HQ ISAF, Kabul, 20140807 1450  

2 
 

the second place for nearly an hour.  Nothing was out of the ordinary, but I wondered 
why one of the road gates were opened.  I heard a long burst and it sounded like 
someone shot a full magazine.  I was shouting to the guys on the roof and I secured the 
area toward the guards at the water pumps.  I saw MG Greene on the ground.  I had 
spent 6 years as a medical NCO and I knew he was deceased.  I heard crying and I 
saw running – it was chaotic.  I didn’t know BG Bartscher was wounded.  I knew Camp 
Qargha and decided to take them to the Role 1 MTF. BG Bartscher went to the right 
side of the vehicle.  The heavily wounded went to the ICU – there were 5 or 6.  I thought 
the Brits knew of the event since was from the area (he is British).  I hadn’t 
had a good feeling about being at the live fire range by the water storage tank at the 
second stop.  Another platoon was dry firing.  One Afghan seemed to be missing from 
the briefing.  There was no tension during MG Greene’s discussion at the second stop.  
The Afghans didn’t provide any assistance.  The CPTs took care of their own.  I didn’t 
hear any firing after the burst.
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Statement of , MP Company Germany, Kabul, 20140807 1320  

1 
 

Q. Please list all of your team members who were present at Camp Qargha on 5 
August 2014.

A.  BG Bartscher, .

Q. Please describe your job, responsibilities, and level of experience.

A.  I am the leader of the CPT for BG Bartscher.  I have of experience.  
This is my third time in Afghanistan and I’ve deployed to Kosovo.  I joined the Army in 

Q. Please describe your team’s security planning for this event.

A.  We learned of the event 3 or 4 days prior.  About 2 days prior, we did a recon.  We 
had received information from the front office about the event.  We drove to the main 
gate.  

Q. Please describe any coordination with other organizational Personnel Security 
Detachments (PSDs) that your team conducted.

A.  I spoke to the British CPT.  There are no comms between us and the American 
PSD.  I know the American PSD, but there’s only a small office and there’s no 
opportunity to coordinate.  We internally discussed threats because this was an HVT.  
We considered rocket attacks.  It was threat condition orange for VBIED.  Other teams 
were behind us by 15 minutes for back-up.  We discussed intel threats.  I didn’t know 
how big the party was.  There were 8 VIPs.  We coordinated with the British guards for 
the drive out but not for actions on site.

Q. Please describe your internal and external communication equipment.

A.  We have VHF radios.  In the vehicles, we have ICN for MCC and MOVECON.  We 
called on arrival and departure.  We have the same radios but cannot communicate with 
the British because they’re on different frequencies.

Q. Please describe any rehearsals your team conducted.  

A.  There is no training here, it was all done in Germany.  About one and a half hours 
before departure, we go over routes, times, and SOPs.

Q. Please provide a list of any of your team member who may have photos or videos.

A.  Only driving out.  We have a Go-Pro on vehicle.

Q. Please describe your team’s plan for MEDEVAC.
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Statement of MP Company Germany, Kabul, 20140807 1320  

2 
 

A.  We have no plan for MEDEVAC.  We have a Bravo medic (like a combat lifesaver) 
who has a medic bag.  In the car, the medic treated the general for a GSW.  Prior to 
meeting, I didn’t know about the MTF, but knew of the MTF on Camp 
Qargha.  We took the US civilian with us to the MTF.  There was no aerial MEDEVEAC 
available.  We called the NSE for MEDEVAC.  BG Bartscher was wounded on the upper 
leg.

Q. Please describe the events and your actions from your arrival at Camp Qargha 
through your departure.

A.  At 0845 we drove to the location with BG Bartscher.  There was a discussion 
between the Afghan and the US general at the second site.  MG Greene was telling 
them that they need to build the programs.  We were focused on the street.  Theere 
were guards on the building, on the roof with coalition forces next to the building.  The 
shooting started and someone pushed me down.  I thought the guards were shooting.
I took BG Bartscher and down to the covered area.  The vehicles came 
down, I called them and ran to them.  saw smoke on the street outside of the 
camp and thought the shooting was from outside.  The shooting started about 5-10 
minutes after the briefing at the indoor storage tank.  I didn’t notice anything unusual 
about the Afghans.  I saw many Danish guards.  I didn’t clear the building because the 
Danish guards were already there.  I didn’t look in the building.  I only saw the Aghan 
general.  I didn’t see any Afghan Soldiers and no Afghan Soldiers helped.  I had 
previously had some visual cues training.
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Statement of Kabul, 20140807 1419  

1 
 

Q. Please list all of your team members who were present at Camp Qargha on 5 
August 2014.

A. OF6
Bartscher.

Q. Please describe your job, responsibilities, and level of experience.

A. I am the Deputy Team Leader and medic.  I am responsible for evacuation.  I stay 
near the vehicles.  I joined I became a member of the CPT.  This is 
my second tour in Afghanistan.  I’m trained as a CPT leader and as a medic.

Q. Please describe your team’s security planning for this event.

A.  At first I tried to get information from other CPTs, but only coordinated with the 
British regarding timelines.  There was no coordination with the others and there was no 
info on routes, medical, etc.  We did a threat assessment and were warned of VBIEDs.  
There was only one route in and out.  We considered Green on Blue and we talked 
about actions on the objective.  We were notified of the event about a week prior by the 
front office.

Q. Please describe any coordination with other organizational Personnel Security 
Detachments (PSDs) that your team conducted.

A.  We drove to the camp to see the route and the gate, but we didn’t have any contact 
with the Afghans.  We drove on route Orange to recon routes for evacuation.

Q. Please describe your internal and external communication equipment.

A.  We use ICN and German radios.  There are problems with the ICN in 
communicating.  The British have ICN but they have their own frequencies and we can’t
lock onto their frequency so we can only communicate internally.

Q. Please describe any rehearsals your team conducted.  

A.  We trained in Germany, including Green on Blue.  We talked about G on B history 
and discussed guns and suicide vests.  We had a training scenario where the 
Governor’s men attacked us.

Q. Please provide a list of any of your team member who may have photos or videos.

A.  We have none of the incident, only of the drive out.

Q. Please describe your team’s plan for MEDEVAC.  
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Statement of Kabul, 20140807 1419  

2 
 

A. I didn’t know of the MTF – we had planned to evac to the HQ.  We tried to 
coordinate with the British but there was no coordination.  We didn’t know anything.

Q. Please describe the events and your actions from your arrival at Camp Qargha 
through your departure.

A.  The range was active all day – we heard shooting all day.  I saw a Dan with a big 
scope that I had seen in a previous meeting.  I don’t know if they cleared the building.  
We saw the Danish on the site when we arrived.  I didn’t see Afghan Soldiers walking 
around the building.  We saw action – someone was running we saw someone fall.  I 
thought the danger was from the street.  I had an M28 rifle, so I set it up and searched 
for a target on the roofs of houses beyond the gate.  After I had scanned for a while, 

called a Green on Blue.  The right lane towards the building was closed.  I 
ran down towards the building to locate BG Bartscher and and evacuated 
them.  The second car stopped for an American.  The Afghans seemed paralyzed.  An 
American had asked me if I knew what had happened.  There had been a lot of Afghans 
with guns during the second meeting.  I saw 2 Afghans with M16s.  The Danes had a 
ring of 100M but allowed the Afghans in.
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Statement of MP Station, Kabul,
20140807 1530  

1 
 

Q. Please list all of your team members who were present at Camp Qargha on 5 
August 2014.

A.  Bartscher,

Q. Please describe your job, responsibilities, and level of experience.

A.  Normally I’m a driver for a vehicle.  Usually, there are 6 in the CPT, but one was in 
Germany and another was out.  I drove the VIP on this day.  I am an
Germany.  I joined the Army and I have been doing CPT since last year.  I have 
been in Afghanistan since June 27.

Q. Please describe your team’s security planning for this event.  

A.  Not so much.  Two days prior we did a route recon from the HQ to the camp gate.

Q. Please describe any coordination with other organizational Personnel Security 
Detachments (PSDs) that your team conducted.

A.  The team leader spoke with the British team.  We would have spoken with the US 
team but the US don’t coordinate.

Q. Please describe your internal and external communication equipment.  

A.  We have no external communication.

Q. Please describe any rehearsals your team conducted.  

A.  We didn’t conduct any.  We didn’t know what the camp looked like.

Q. Please provide a list of any of your team member who may have photos or videos.

A.  Just video of the route out.

Q. Please describe your team’s plan for MEDEVAC.

A.  Nothing – no plan.

Q. Please describe the events and your actions from your arrival at Camp Qargha 
through your departure.

A.  When I parked the car, I saw the Danish on top of the building.  There was a 
sandbag position on the roof.  I saw Afghans near the tank taking pictures.  We were in 
the car for about 20 minutes with the engine running and the door closed – we were 
ready to take off.  I thought I heard shots and I saw the Danes drop to the roof, so I just 
drove towards the building.  I saw people on the ground and saw a lot of blood.  I saw a 

530
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Statement of MP Station, Kabul,
20140807 1530  

2 
 

bloody African American.  I called the team leader and he said he was with the General.  
I drove around the street and the general and team leader got into my car and we left, 
driving backwards until we turned around and waited for the other vehicle.  

vehicle took the lead, followed by the British, then went to the hospital.  It 
seemed like a normal day prior to this.  Afghan guards were on the first point.  I don’t 
know if Afghans went down the road.  I had wondered why everyone took off their IBA.  

(b)(6)

(b)(6)

(b)(6)

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 133

App
rov

ed
 fo

r R
ele

as
e



Statement of Kabul, 20140807 1605  

1 
 

Q. Please list all of your team members who were present at Camp Qargha on 5 
August 2014.

A.  Bartscher,

Q. Please describe your job, responsibilities, and level of experience.

A.  I am the driver of the evacuation vehicle and I’ve been on the CPT since 2012.  I 
trained to be a driver in 2009 and have been an MP since I joined the military.

Q. Please describe your team’s security planning for this event.

A.  We conducted a recon of the route 3 or 4 days prior.  We had internal briefings 
about threats, threats enroute, and Green on Blue.  We assumed the Afghan Army 
would check their people for such an important event.  We were concerned about IDF 
and street threats.

Q. Please describe any coordination with other organizational Personnel Security 
Detachments (PSDs) that your team conducted.

A.  We talked to the British about convoying up together and had good cooperation.  We 
had no discussions with the Americans.

Q. Please describe your internal and external communication equipment.

A.  We only have internal communications.

Q. Please describe any rehearsals your team conducted.  

A.  We only conducted training in Germany.  We did insider threat training in Germany 
along with our other classes.

Q. Please provide a list of any of your team member who may have photos or videos.

A.  There was a video camera on the vehicle from HQ to Point 1 then to Point 2 in the 
camp.

Q. Please describe your team’s plan for MEDEVAC.

A.  Our SOP is to go to the nearest building or drive away to safety.  I didn’t know the 
MTF was on the camp. directed me to the British Camp because he knew 
there was an MTF there.

Q. Please describe the events and your actions from your arrival at Camp Qargha 
through your departure.
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Statement of Kabul, 20140807 1605  

2 
 

A.  I parked the vehicle and recognized a tank, crane and vehicle drove by and parked 
at the building.  It drove slowly.  It was a green pick-up, probably ANP.  I don’t know if it 
was there when the group was passed the building.  One Afghan went to the roof – I’m 
not sure about weapons.  I saw smoke – black smoke.  I saw no reaction from the guard 
force.  I was in the car – in the seat.  The right-side door was opened because my 
partner was smoking.  Because the door was open, we could hear shooting.  We saw 
people dropping.  I called the team leader and the first vehicle drove down. 
got the sniper rifle and scanned by propping it on the hood of the car.  He couldn’t see 
any threat, so he tossed the rifle in the back of the vehicle and walked next to the car 
while I drove it slowly.  When I got to the bottom, I had to back up.  The British vehicle 
was at the bottom.  A Brit asked if we could take a casualty.  We couldn’t see anyone 
from the German team.  I saw coming to his vehicle and saw BG Brathurst 
run to the other vehicle.  We saw an American and he got in the back right.  The first 
vehicle got behind him and drove backwards up the hill, turned around and went to the 
hospital.
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Personal Interview with Maj Gen Benjamin J. Bathurst 
Conducted in his office from 1950-2125 hours, 8 August 2014, at Camp ISAF 
 
Maj Gen Bathurst (GBR) is the Deputy Advisor, Afghan Ministry of Defense (MOD).  On 5 Aug 2014 he 
attended an NTM-A sponsored meeting at the Marshal Fahim National Defense University (MFNDU).  
The event was hosted by a subordinate unit of NTM-A, the Unified Training Advisory Group (UTAG) but 
was also supported by both the Combined Security Transition Command-Afghanistan (CSTC-A) and the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).  The purpose of the event was to highlight the problem of 
insufficient water supply for the MFNDU site and concerns over Afghan plans to appropriately budget 
for operations and maintenance.  From his perspective, it was a significant concern of the MOD due to 
its direct impact on the training of many thousands of leaders that are necessary to professionalize the 
Afghan Army.  It would also highlight similar issues that would arise across a range of other bases. 
 
MG Greene, Deputy Commander of CSTC-A, attended the meeting to try and determine whether or not 
to award a contract for Phase II (the Command and Staff College.  Given the current facilities under 
construction did not have adequate water supply, he questioned whether or not he should compound 
the problem by adding more demand to the system.  The Construction Property Management 
Directorate (CPMD) of the MOD is responsible for solving the water supply problem and whilst there 
was a plan, it had yet to be executed.  Despite repeated efforts at multiple levels to resolve the problem, 
including a recent “Water Shura” hosted by the CSTC-A CJENG it was determined 
a meeting at a higher level was required to force CPMD to honour their obligations. 
 
MG Ameree, Director of CPMD, was invited but unable to attend and a very able ANA 
officer, represented CPMD at this meeting.  At the second Stand on the visit, MG Greene challenged 
CPMD to provide a solution, which assured him they would.  It was relayed later, through 
the interpreter for Brigadier Bruce Russell that MG Jalandar Shah, Commander of the MFNDU, had a 
heated discussion in Dari with .  In this conversation he called a liar and challenged 
him to be honest and tell MG Greene that CPMD was unable to execute their portion of the project.   
This exchange, which was discussed with MG Greene, highlighted exactly the problem that was faced, 
namely repeated assurances of action but without it being followed through.  Maj Gen Bathurst 
believed, in theory, CPMD should be able to complete the water supply upgrades but in reality, given 
their failure to execute to date, there was still doubt whether they would to get this accomplished.  For 
this reason at Stop 2, MG Greene laid down exactly what was to happen:  either CPMD repaired the two 
water pipes and drilled the two wells, or MG Greene would not sign the $70M Phase II contract. 
 
All those who participated had a common interest in seeing the MFNDU grow and prosper but the fact 
that it had been constructed in three separate phases (with Phase II stalled owing to contractor 
liquidation and having to be re-procured after Phase III) meant there were a lot of people responsible 
for various parts, hence the need for an all-informed meeting to take a holistic approach. 
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Maj Gen Bathurst has a Close Protection team formed of 6 Royal Military Policemen all of whom have to 
pass a long and stringent course at the Close Protection Unit in UK; the standard of his Close Protection 
team is exactly the same as that of the British Ambassador as they are all found from the same Close 
Protection Unit.  Normally, every visit is reconnoitered in advance but they did not do so on this 
occasion as MFNDU is one of their most frequent destinations on account of the Afghan National Army 
Officers’ Academy (ANAOA) being a UK lead and Maj Gen Bathurst is the UK National Contingent 
Commander.  They were not only familiar with the whole of the MFNDU campus but also familiar with 
FOB Qargha having had to divert in there a month previously when routes back to HQ ISAF went red.   
 
He was aware that both the PSDs of MGs Wendel and Greene did a reconnaissance in advance of the 
event.  He was made aware subsequently by BG Jackson that BG Bartscher’s German PSD only 
conducted reconnaissance up to the front gate but he did comment that his UK Close Protection team 
and BG Bartscher’s PSD were well known to each other, conducting many moves together, owing to the 
close overlap between Deputy Advisor MoD and General Staff responsibilities.  Maj Gen Bathurst found 
all of the PSDs to be extremely professional throughout the day, despite not having done extensive 
coordination beforehand, since they focus on their individual principal with the outer ring provided by 
the UTAG Danish Security Force Protection team (with elements of Australian force protection) who 
clearly had their orders and were fully familiar with every aspect. 
 
The provided an opening presentation at the initial meeting 
place.  In Maj Gen Bathurst’s opinion, the event appeared to be very well coordinated from the 
beginning was very visible on the site and at each Stand, scanning their arcs and forming a visible 
presence between likely threats and the ANA-ISAF group.  All other Personal Security Detachments (PSD) 
provided augmentation to the Danish team and by their nature, PSDs focus on their individual principal 
rather than being tasked with wider force protection duties.   In the opening remarks by he 
did identify the Danish Security Team as the security lead.  He also made a comment regarding force 
that the final stop, to visit the underground water tank would be somewhat restricted in numbers with 
caution needing to be taken regarding footing and overhead obstructions. 
 

invited the Chief Mentor at ANAOA, Brigadier Bruce Russell to give the ground brief at the first 
Stop on the HLZ.  Brig Russell pointed out the three Phases of construction.  He also made a particular 
point of drawing the audience’s attention to the PGSS/Aerostat, saying that at the base of the tether 
was FOB Camp Qargha where the UTAG and ANAOA mentors and force protection was resident.  
Although he did not mention there was a Role 1 hospital located inside FOB Qargha, the location of the 
ISAF force elements would lead anyone to conclude that this was the safe area if in any doubt.   
 
At the start, when Maj Gen Bathurst took in the surroundings, he recalls noticing that although there 
were a number of Afghans present, none were armed.  He found this interesting, wondering why they 
did not have personal weapons or armed security but from previous visits he was aware that the 
MFNDU has a very low weapon carrying population with none of the students or instructors being 
armed.  He also added that at Stop 2, in vicinity of the active firing range, he was not concerned as the 
range personnel appeared to be at the 25M point, rather than at the 300M point and therefore were 
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very far away.  He also noticed that there force protection between the range and the ANA-ISAF group.  
Whilst the presentation by was going on, Maj Gen Bathurst 
observed the UTAG Danish Force Protection guarding the front and the back of the group; he also had 
one of his Close Protection team right by him and noticed that BG Bartscher had the same.  The 
remaining  Close Protection/PSD teams were in and around their vehicles in the normal posture.  
 
At Stop 3, while moving to the underground water tank he noted armed Afghans in the vicinity of the 
Garrison Support Unit (GSU) Security area.  He did not find this odd since the GSU is overall responsible 
for security for the MFNDU and had seen them before, most recently when LTG Anderson addressed the 
ANA Strategic Leadership Programme.  On that occasion, there was an even larger group of ANA-ISAF 
personnel and armed GSU were providing the security along the road outside the lecture theatre where 
LTG Anderson addressed the course.  He had also seen the GSU guarding the MFNDU entrance and was 
aware from previous briefings that they manned the towers on the hills surrounding the site.  Again he 
noted a very visible security presence by the Danish Security Team, to include several Australian 
Sharpshooters positioned on the roof of the MP Barracks and one member of the team scanning the 
area with binoculars.  He felt that there was effective overwatch of the most likely threat area. 
 
As the team moved outside the wall and along a path which ultimately led to the underground water 
tank, again he noted the presence of the Danish Security Team.  During the briefing at the final 
scheduled Stop inside the shelter covering the water tank, Maj Gen Bathurst heard UTAG 
Infrastructure Officer, ask for CSTC-A CPMD Budget Advisor, several times.  Maj Gen 
Bathurst assumed the plan was for to do his presentation inside the tank but was unsure why 
he had not arrived, thinking perhaps he was unable to move the large board that he had been carrying. 
The brief inside the underground water tank took about 15-20 minutes, at which time the group made 
their way back to a small open area behind the MP Barracks.  As it turned out later, was supposed to 
present a budget overview briefing at Stop 2 but that had been postponed due to time constraints.  Maj 
Gen Bathurst was unaware of the plans to make an unscheduled stop back by the MP Barracks but had 
no particular cause for concern at the time. 
 

provided the group with a budget overview highlighting the requirements to address a 
multitude of concerns pertaining to adequate water supply, and operations and maintenance of MFNDU 
overall.  is a tall, very polished individual, who held everyone’s attention throughout the brief.  As 

completed his brief, Maj Gen Bathurst leaned over to and reminded him to allow MGs 
Greene and Wendell an opportunity to make some closing remarks.  Maj Gen Bathurst was standing 
immediately behind MGs Greene and Wendel and subsequently suggested to MG Wendel that given the 
number of Afghan officers present, it would be an opportunity to remind them that any attempt to 
extort money from the contractors (a problem from earlier in the year) must be stamped down on.  
 
It was about that time the shooting began. 
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At first, Maj Gen Bathurst was fairly sure the firing was coming from straight ahead, having been under 
fire before and knowing what the ‘crack’ and ‘thump’ of bullets sounds like from head on; however, he 
did not observe the shooter himself.  Instinctively, he went straight back rather than to the left or right 
owing to rounds falling either side of him.  On going straight back, he came up against the stone wall, 
then noticing a sliding metal gate with enough room for him to get behind; he remembers thinking the 
gate offered cover from view but probably not from fire and that there was a large gap at the bottom.  
He noted the firing came in at least three bursts (possibly four) each of 5-7 rounds and whilst the first 
rounds were directly in his directed, he noted that the later bursts where at more of an angle. 
 
The immediate member of his Close Protection team, had moved back to his normal 
position over by Maj Gen Bathurst’s side just before the firing began, having previously moved across 
the group to have a word with the Aide, was in the process of raising 
his rifle when he was hit twice, once in the arm and the other on his holstered pistol.  Maj Gen Bathurst 
told to get in behind the metal gate to assess his wound.  Behind the gate was also Brig 
Russell’s Afghan interpreter who was considerably agitated, having seen another GSU member the other 
side of the gate.  Being very certain of where the rounds had come from, Maj Gen Bathurst did not 
believe that this other GSU member was a threat (he can be seen in the photograph as the gate sentry).  
However, the Afghan interpreter was desperate to get out from behind the gate and cross over to the 
dead ground by the entrance to the water tank which he did. 
 
There was the sound of rounds being returned and after the firing had stopped, Maj Gen Bathurst’s 
attention was instinctively drawn to his Aide, who was lying on the centre ground but 
moving and crying out loudly.  was following the normal procedure by trying to remain 
in place until the other Close Protection team members arrived, having given the Contact report already 
over his Personal Role Radio. was telling Maj Gen Bathurst to remain in place but Maj 
Gen Bathurst was saying to that they had to get to .  At that point,
and of Maj Gen Bathurst’s Close Protection team arrived quickly on the ground with an 
orange stretcher and started attending to , applying first aid to stop the bleeding.   
 
Maj Gen Bathurst noted that the PSDs of both MGs Greene and Wendel were very quickly on site and 
began to move their people into vehicles for evacuation.  He also noted Brig Russell attending to BG 
Sakhi and (GBR) applying first aid to a member of the USACE PSD.  At that point, 

(as the leader of the UK Close Protection team and responsible for incident management) told 
to move both Maj Gen Bathurst and to the lead UK Close Protection vehicle 

to take him straight to the Role 1 Medical Facility at Qargha.  Upon arrival, he immediately ran into
who thought he was role playing a MASCAL drill, having finished just such a drill that 

morning as the Role 1 staff were in the middle of the RiP/ToA and fortunately, manned above the 
normal level.  He explained that it was certainly not a drill and that did indeed have a 
gunshot wound but that at least five additional CAT A casualties were en route and that they should 
prepare accordingly, including sending additional medics to the scene of the shooting.   
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Casualties began to stream into the Role 1 hospital shortly thereafter and although he cannot be 
absolutely sure of the order, BG Bartscher came with a PSD member, , Brig 
Russell with BG Sakhi, then came limping in unaided and carried in.  There 
were also others but not all were well known to him.  He also noted was there trying to 
find MGs Greene and Wendel.  He was told by two individuals that their PSD team had taken them by 
vehicle for evacuation, but at the time they had not arrived at the FOB Qargha Medical Facility. 
 
Maj Gen Bathurst then departed the Medical Center to speak with (the FOB Qargha 
Force Protection Company Commander for ANAOA who he knew personally) to ensure that he fully 
understood the situation.  They discussed the need to send the Quick Reaction Force to the scene and 
Brig Russell offered to return with them to ensure that everything was under control. There was also a 
discussion about the need to ensure there was adequate manning to assist the medical staffs who were 
quickly becoming overwhelmed, not least by the non-injured wanting to ensure that their injured were 
being cared for.  He therefore tasked his UK Close Protection team to assist in the Medical Center and 
was told later that the German PSD had been particularly effective in helping the medics with their own 
enhanced medical skills.   
 
Outside the Role 1 hospital,  Maj Gen Bathurst was again joined by Brig Russell who had returned from 
the scene and informed that the Danish Security Team had secured the site and that the shooter was 
confirmed dead.  He was assured by who had remained in the Operations Room that the 
incident had been reported upwards and that helicopters were inbound shortly.  There was a discussion 
on the whereabouts of MG Wendel and Greene’s PSD and said that they had looked for them 
using the PGSS/Aerostat but had not seen them.  After that, Maj Gen Bathurst observed a number of 
PSD teams and individuals who had been separated as most teams had split to attend to their own, and 
other casualties.  They were trying to find and account for other members of their units and there were 
a number of discussions on who had been treated and who was where and people connected back up 
together.  In particular, there were a number of interpreters who were visibly shocked and needed to be 
matched up with their teams again.  Casualties were being moved to the HLZ at this time. 
 
After the helicopters had come and gone, Maj Gen Bathurst had discussions with Brigadier Russell and 

It was agreed that it was important that they should go and see the Commander of MFNDU,  
MG Jalandar Shah, and was asked to telephone ahead.  On arrival at the Commander’s 
headquarters, he was met by MG Jalandar Shah but also MG Farahi (GSG2), MG Payenda (IG) and an 
officer from GS Legal who had arrived to start the investigation.  The Aghans were expressing remorse at 
the incident and were clearly shaken by the event but seemed relieved by the reassurances given by Maj 
Gen Bathurst that whilst lessons must be learned, ISAF would not walk away from MFNDU.  The Afghan 
leadership made a particular point of the fact Brigadier Russell had looked after BG Sakhi and it was very 
much appreciated that the latter had been treated the same as the ISAF casualties.  Following these 
meetings, Maj Gen Bathurst returned to Camp ISAF, arriving back by 1500. 
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In retrospect, he hypothetically asked…should we have been wearing body armor…should the buildings 
have been checked and if so, how many along the route taken through the day.  He also wondered how 
the event had been reported, noting that actions on the ground had been well executed by the PSDs and 
the medical response, both immediate and in the Role 1 hospital, was very professional.  His final 
comment was a constant reminder that after 14 years of looking after the Afghans, now they really have 
to look after us. 
 
----------------------------------------------------------NOTHING FOLLOWS------------------------------------------------------ 
Transcribed from my personal notes and submitted for approval to MajGen Bathurst on 13 Aug 2014. 
 
 
 
 
DONALD E. (Ed) JACKSON, JR. 
Brigadier General, US Army 
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Pages 1 through 3 redacted for the following reasons:
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Tab B, Exhibit D2 - (b)(1)1.4b - DEFER TO NATO
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15 Aug 14 

TAAC-N JCAT  

GREEN ON BLUE INCIDENT 5 AUG 14 - STATEMENT

I, provide the following information regarding the events that took 
place at MFNDU on 5 Aug 2014.  I certify that this statement to be true and correct to the best 
of my recollections. 

My staff had raised concerns over the lack of water infrastructure planning for MFNDU as a 
critical vulnerability in the short to long term sustainability of the site in mid Jul.  We conducted 
an initial tour of the water infrastructure on the MFNDU site to view the particular areas of 
vulnerability and concern. We developed and submitted the concern as an Essential Function 
4 target and I also raised it through UK Comd’s Conf and UK ASSESSREP as an issue, in 
part due to the UK investment in ANAOA.  ISAF identified the need for KLE and requested 
CSTC-A conduct a visit with key ANA interlocutors to MFNDU.  Having been informed of the 
intent to conduct a visit to MFNDU, we warned off DCOM MFNDU (representing COM 
MFNDU), CPMD and CF SMEs at the MFNDU Programme Review Board on 23 Jul.  We 
were informed of the date of the visit as 5 Aug on/around 27 Jul.  The QAA Force Protection 
Company (QFPC) were warned off about the visit on 28 Jul, as we developed the outline 
plan, followed up by a request for elements of FP support. We provided a draft outline 
programme to CSTC-A on 29 Jul and received direction in return to avoid conducting briefings 
in classrooms (which had been included for the initial briefing in QAA CF base in the first
version), thereby implying maximizing outdoor venues around the MFNDU site. An initial draft 
version of the CONOPS and programme was circulated for comment and approval on 31 Jul,
and then updated and re-issued on 2 Aug following some comment from CSTC-A and 
CJENG on a difference of opinion on some of the facts relating to water usage, provision and 
proposed solutions.

FP risks assessed at each stand were to be mitigated by planned FP measures.  As well as 
the presence of the DNK FP team at each stand, which included an advanced element and a 
main body, the following FP would be in place:
Stand 1.  The HLS would be secured by the QFPC QRF multiple.
Stand 2.  The range would be cleared as part of the ANAOA range detail and FP would 
include the additional QFPC FP/GAs covering the ANAOA cadets on the range, and close 
supervision of firers on the point by ANAOA and CF staff.
Stand 3.  The water tanker building would be cleared by an Arms & Explosive Search dog and 
two QFPC marksmen would provide depth cover for the move to and from the building from 
the inner perimeter wall.

Site specific and wider J2 Int reporting was checked daily by DNK FP Team, and following no 
increase or specific change in threat reporting for MFNDU, there was no change to the 
standard personal FP profile for personnel conducting KLE on MFNDU - GAs deployed and 
personnel to have PPE to hand (defined as being in the vehicles they have travelled in).   

The CONOPS included a map of MFNDU which included the labeled location of the QAA CF 
Base, and satellite imagery of MFNDU identifying numbered locations for the stands.  A 
separate programme contained detail of participants, the programme of serials including 
stands, timings and briefings to be presented at each stand. We were also recommended to 
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include the opportunity to view training to set the context of MFNDU, and having discussed 
with ANAOA, adjusted the location of the planned brief at Blue Water Tank to an elevated 
viewpoint on a bank above the tank approximately 300m from the firing point on the ranges in 
order that there could be a backdrop of training (thereby incorporating the original stands 2 
and 3).  This would also provide the opportunity for ANAOA to provide a short brief on training 
activity at that location.  This decision was taken having given due consideration to the 
mitigation of a live firing zeroing practice by: the clearance of the ranges by QFPC; an 
additional level of FP and GAs from QFPC focused on the ANAOA students on the range, 
and; the close supervision of firers on the firing point by ANAOA staff and CF personnel.  

MG Greene’s CP team conducted an FP recce for the BFC which included FP coordination 
discussions with OC DNK FP Team, on 2 Aug.  A 
planned working level “water shura” was conducted at QAA on 4 Aug which included a recce 
of the briefing locations and routes, confirming the detail with briefers of which presentations
would take place at which briefing stand.  Having confirmed that COM MFNDU staff had 
made aware of the visit on 3 Aug, I briefed him on the detail of the visit during a KLE 1100-
1230hrs on 4 Aug. He appeared fully content with the BFC plan, and his questions focused 
on lunch arrangements and timings for him to be at the HLS to meet visitors. We conducted a
final confirmatory walk through/talk through of the entire BFC on the ground with DNK FP 

focusing on the FP 
arrangements, briefing activity and timings at each phase and stand of the visit, as well as the 
routes and movement in between stands. 

Later that evening, received a message that there might be a 30 min delay to the 
arrival times of MGs Greene and Wendel due to commitments.  The following morning this
was confirmed.   I informed the QFPC CSM to add 30 mins to all timings of the BFC 
programme with a revised start time of 0930.  We also spoke to COM MFNDU and ANAOA to 
make them aware. already had his link-up party at the major junctions from 
perimeter entrance to MFNDU to guide the participants to the HLS RV.  He also attempted to 
stop vehicles to confirm occupants against known visit parties but not all stopped.  I departed 
from Camp QAA to the HLS with elements of my drive team at approx 0840.  On arrival I 
noted that vehicles were already being parked up in designated areas and security was in
place.  Various visit parties began to arrive and I was involved in welcoming the guests.

provided additional hard copies of the CONOPS and programme in both English and 
Dari. At approx. 0945 we were informed that MG Greene and Wendel were entering MFNDU 
and they arrived at the HLS at approx. 0950.  They were the last elements to arrive and the 
CP team was familiar with the route to HLS, so collapsed in his guides.  Once 
the GOs had been met and moved to their seats, I conducted an initial brief explaining the 
aims and the programme for the BFC including the 3 briefing stands and locations followed by 
KLE and lunch at COM MFNDU’s office.  I then handed over to Ch Mentor ANAOA Brig 
Russell who provided the ground orientation brief, beginning by identifying the location of the 
QAA CF base, easily identified by the aerostat suspended above it.  Including the US ACE 
brief on site development and timelines, the brief at the first stand took 30 mins which was the 
planned duration.  I ended the first brief by confirming the location of the next stand at the 
blue water tank by the ranges, explaining that the route would take us through the ANAOA 
construction site, and that there would be a short scramble up a bank when we got there.  We 
then moved to vehicles and were led via the ANAOA site to the Blue Tank.

On arrival, vehicles were parked up in the low ground around the water tank by elements of 
our advanced party.  The dismounted party then moved up the bank to a location behind the 
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building at the opposite end of the ranges to the target end, approximately 300m from the 
firing point where a zeroing practice was taking place.  The FP/GAs provided by QFPC were
in place covering the firing points of the range.  I introduced the stand and then Brig Russell 
gave a very quick overview to ANAOA training, pointing out both the range training serial and 
dry COIN assaults taking place on the hillside on the opposite side of the area. 
provided an outline of the water infrastructure at that site.  CJ ENG began his presentation 
followed by Both of these presentations initiated significant discussion from both 
CF and ANA partners, including a lengthy discourse from CPMD. The total time on that stand 
had been planned for approx 60 minutes.  When the time reached approx. 70 mins, although 

appeared to want to speak on CPMD concerns, we indicated that we needed to 
move and that he would brief at the next stand, which was the plan anyway.  I then 
announced that we would be moving to the next stand, mentioning that there were FP issues 
as it was on the edge of the perimeter, and that access was awkward.  In order to try and 
reduce the footprint of visitors, I also requested that the group going down to the water tank 
be limited to GOs and one principal advisor, OF5s, CJ ENG and those conducting the 
briefings, with CP personnel.  There was a further discussion between the CF GOs for about 
5 mins before the group moved to the vehicles.

We then moved to the designated parking area for Stand 3 which was on the bend of the road 
about 60m to the north of the guardroom.  FP was again in place and I moved down with MG 
Greene exchanging a few words.  We walked down the path through a small entrance and 
down to the wall.  I asked one of my FP team at the entrance to try and ensure that it was just 
those visitors designated that came through, to avoid unnecessary personnel coming through 
and thus keeping our footprint at that stand as limited as possible.  From there we moved 
through the wall and down to the building housing the sunken water tanker.  I was one of the 
first in as I was aware that there was a fall hazard and I wanted to ensure that we had one of 
the UTAG team in place as planned to warn people entering the building of the immediate 
drop.  I moved around the elevated walkway to the opposite side of the building to the door.
The majority of the group came in behind me.  An FP guard was positioned at the door. Once 
introduced, began his briefing on the water infrastructure at that site which lasted 
about 10 mins.  When he had finished I looked around to see where was as he
was due to brief next in the building.  There was no sign of him and the visitors closest to the 
door had begun to exit the building.  MG Greene who was next to me asked a question and I 
waited until it was answered.  I then followed the last of the group out.  When I entered the 
area at the back of the guardroom, I was surprised to find that had set up an easel 
with some graphics displayed and was beginning his brief, as this was not a scheduled stop.
He spoke for approximately 10 mins during which time I noted the two QFPC marksmen, who 
had been covering our movement to and from the water tanker building, on the roof of the 
guardroom with one of our contractors.  As drew to a close, I prepared to move 
forward to then announce that we would now move to the final location for KLE and lunch with 
COM MFNDU.  As I was close to Maj Gen Bathurst and we knew that MGs Wendell and 
Greene need to depart imminently, Maj Gen Bathurst suggested that I ask if the two US GOs 
wanted to make any remarks before they left.  I was just beginning to move out to the front of 
the group when the firing began.  The sound of the initial firing was distorted with a sort of 
echo, and it was initially hard to identify exactly what it was, how close it was and the location 
of the firing point. The first burst seemed approx. 6-8 rounds.  I took two steps forward
shouting “Take Cover! Take Cover!” and dived to the ground.  I had a low wall partially 
covering me and I was able to move to the side of a vehicle parked beside it.  At this point it 
was hard to identify the firing point although it was clear we had come under fire.  I noted 

who was partially covering body with his own against the low wall.  I 
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asked if either was hit and responded that had a wound in his leg.  
There was a UK CP team member crouched against the front wheel of the vehicle in front of 
me and I asked him to reach inside and throw me the medical bag.  I then moved forward at a 
crouch and passed a bandage. I could see was applying pressure to 
the wound.  As I moved forward I could see a number of other casualties in the open area and 
I went forward to begin to render first aid to a casualty lying on his front with a gunshot wound 
in the back. At this point I was unsure whether the shooter had been neutralised, but when I 
looked up from the casualty, I noticed a number of bullet holes in the ajar window of a ground 
floor room in the Guardroom. Subsequently one of the DNK PM Team Medics joined me 
treating the casualty.  I called for a stretcher and with other personnel moved him to one of a 
number of vehicles that were manoeuvring to collect the casualties and take them to the R1 
facility at QAA.  Having moved back to see whether there were any remaining casualties,
from what I recollect I think all of them seemed to have been moved or be moving to vehicles.
My drive team then directed me to return to the vehicle with my interpreter, and after the DNK 
SNCO had checked with the Team Comd that the area was secured, he directed the driver to 
take us back to QAA CF base. On arrival I located the UTAG CSM, XO and Adjt and directed
them to conduct a 100% accountability check for UTAG personnel.  I called DoS NTM-A to 
give him a brief on the situation, and directed XO to contact NTM-A CJ1 to warn them that we 
were going to provide an accountability status.  Once accountability had been confirmed, I 
asked CJ1 and DoS to ensure that the SNRs in NTM-A were informed that all of their National 
personnel in UTAG were accounted for.  

We contacted COM MFNDU by mobile through my interpreter and confirmed that he was 
unhurt.  We also asked him for any details on ANA casualties and whether he had any 
information on the shooter.  He provided a name, ID number and home Province which we
passed to the J2 team in the QFPC Ops Room.  Brig Russell who had informed me that he 
was taking part of the QFPC QRF down to the incident site to conduct a RIP with the DNK FP 
team who had secured it, returned with them.  I confirmed again that all the DNK team were 
OK.  Brig Russell then recommended that he, Maj Gen Bathurst and I conduct a KLE with 
COM MFNDU.  We coordinated this again through my interpreter and received a further 
update of details on the shooter including when he had joind the ANA and his previous 
military service, which we relayed to the J2 Cell.  I travelled with Brig Russell and Maj Gen 
Bathurst to COM MFNDU’s office.  There were a number of other ANA senior officers in the 
room including the Chief J2 and Ch Legal Advisor from AMOD, who had arrived to begin their 
own investigation. Following sharing of condolences and some discussion on ANA casualties, 
COM MFNDU confirmed the detail of the shooter.  He also reported that the GSU Company 
Commander had been directed to disarm the personnel in the Guardroom ahead of the visit.  
As we were leaving the KLE, BG Hetherington DCOS NTM-A arrived to also offer expressions 
of sympathy to COM MFNDU.  Afterwards I returned with him to QAA.                                 

NTM-A 

(b)(6)

(b)(6) (b)(3), (b)(6)

g
(b)(6)(b)(6)

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 278

App
rov

ed
 ps Rs R

down to then to th
ed with them.  Iwith them.

mended that he, nded that h
ated this again ted this aga

shooter includingooter incl
we relayed to the relaye

FNDUDU’s’ office.  office
he Chief J2 and CChief J2 

ion. Following shn. Followi
DU confirmed theconfirmed t

der had been dier had been di
ere leaving thee leaving th

hy to COMto

for
 gh my interpmy int

on ANA casuon ANA cas
a name, ID nname, ID 

om.  m.  B
n

Rele
as

ehem
ning casualtcasua

be moving tomoving to
preter, and aftter, and a

ed, he directee directe
SM, XO and AM, XO and 

onnel.  I callednnel.  I cal
ct NTMNTM-A CJ1A CJ1

ccountability hccountability h
A were informA were inform



SECRET

SECRET

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

6)) (b)(3), (b)(6) (b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 279

(b)(6)( 6)( )(



SECRET

SECRET

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( ) (b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)

( )( )(b)(3), (( ))( )( (b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

( )(b)(3)( )(

((((b(b(b(( (1) 4444444444aaaaaaaaaaaaaab)(1)1.4bb (1) 444444 (b((b(b(b(b(b(b(b(b(b(b)(1bb

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 280

) ( )( )(, (b)(6)(6)), ( )( ))(

( ) ( )( ))(3), (b)(6)(6)( ), (( )()( )))

4aaaaaaaaaaaaa)(1)1.4)(1)1.44



SECRET

SECRET

(b)(3), (b)(6)

( )( ) ( )( )(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(6)( )( )

(b)(6)( )( )

(b)(6)

(b)(6)( )( )

b)(3), (b)(6))( ), ( )( )

b)(6)( )( )

(b)(6)( )( )

( )( )(b)(6)( )( )

(b)(6)( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( ))

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 281

(b)(3(((

(b)(3), (b)(b( )( ), ((

(b)(3), (b))(3)



SECRET

SECRET

( )( ( )(b)(6)(b)( (6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( )(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )(( ))

(b)(b))(b)(b)(b)(b)(b)(b)(b)(b)(b)b)(3 b)(b)bbbbb 6)3), (b3) (bbbb

(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( )), ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( )(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )() )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(6)( )( )
AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 282

( )( ) ( )( ))( ) ( )((b)(3), (b)(6))(3 (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( ))( ), ( )(



SECRET

SECRET

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( ) (b)(6)( )( )

(b(b(b)(b(b(b(bb(b(bbb(bb ( )(6)3), (b3), (b

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(b(b(b(b(b(b(b(b(b(bb(bb (3), (b)(6)3), (b3), (b

))))(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)))) (b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( )(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(6)( )( )

( )( ) ( )( )(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), (( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )
(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

( )( )(b)(6)( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 283

(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6

(b(b



SECRET

SECRET

(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(6)( )( ) (b)(6)( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

(b)( )

), (b)(6)

)(6))( )

(b 6)))b)(3), (b)(6b)( ) ( )(6

(b((((b((((( )(1)1.b)b

(b( (1)1.4aaaaaaaaaaab)(1)1.4b)(1) aa (b(b(b(b(bb(b(bbb(b (1) 44)(1)1.4)(1) 44

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 284

(b)(3), ((b)

(b)(6(b( )(

444aaaaaaaaaaa)1.444

444aaaaaaaaaaa.444

b)(3), (b)(6)b)(3), (b)(6)( ) ( )( )( ) ( )( )



SECRET

SECRET

(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6))
(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(3), ((b)(3)

( ))(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)( ), ( )(6))
(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)

(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)

( )( ) ( )( )(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)(3), (b)(6)(b)( (3), (b)(6) )
(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ), ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

(b)(3), (b)(6)( )( ) ( )( )

AR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 285

(b)(6)(b)(6)( )( ))

(b(b

))), (b)(6)6)), (b)(6))6)



SECRET

SECRETAR 15-6 Investigation - Marshal Fahim National Defense University Incident - 05 AUG 14 11/18/2014 - 286



Statement of gmail.com, Camp 
Qargha, 20140808 1345  

1 
 

Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am an

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.  The main issue was water.  There is a critical shortage of water on ANU – they 
wanted to bring it to the forefront at the highest levels.  I had a support role.  I took the 
chairs out to the first stop, answered questions, etc.

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

A.  UTAG hosted the event and coordinate with CSTC-A.  wanted to bring 
the water issue to the forefront.

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  The FP was the Danes.  The British have movement.  I’m not aware of any security 
planning.

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

A.  There was no security briefing.

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  Everything was pretty much normal.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.
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Statement of gmail.com, Camp 
Qargha, 20140808 1345  

2 
 

A.  There were three interpreters with vehicles.  At the first site, people were milling 
about.  did the introductory remarks and talked about the purpose of the 
visit.  He used charts and later, had charts. has the charts and he 
coordinated with CSTC-A.  Stop 2 got into water near the water treatment plant near the 
firing range.  It was about 200M behind.  I wasn’t concerned about security because of 
the PSDs.  Stop 3 was at the Old Russian gate.  We parked at the intersection, walked 
down to the site, and left the fence line to get to the water tank pump facility.  I took the 
Danes down to the site about 10 minutes prior, because they wanted my interpreter to 
help.  I went on top of the building with the Danes.  I asked the Danes how much 
information to give to the Afghan guard.  They talked to the sergeant of the guard on the 
roof and told him they were checking the area – he had no issues with them being 
there.  They didn’t tell him about the VIP party that was coming.  I stayed on the building 
from then on.  The Australian snipers stayed and the Danes left the top of the building.  
There were probably about Danes.  I wasn’t aware if the Danes had cleared the 
building. brief was unplanned, as the group was going to look at the 
underground tank and then leave for lunch.  I saw the MP commander walking back up 
in front of the building.  I don’t remember the green truck parked by the roof ladder.

Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  The shooting started close together, but there were breaks in there.  I got down on 
the roof.  I looked over the edge and saw dust flying.  It sounded like it could have been 
three round bursts.  I started to move over to the M240 position on the roof.  I heard 
someone screaming in pain in Dari, not English.  The sergeant of the guard went in the 
tent to radio and I heard him talking on the radio.  The Australian sniper was worried 
about the unmanned M240 and I told him that (the photographer) and I would 
cover it.  I moved to the back of the building and told the PSD who were running down 
that the shooter was in the building because I wanted them to watch for him through the 
windows.  I stayed on that side of the building and heard people calling for MEDEVAC.
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Statement of @hotmail.com ,
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1645 

1 
 

Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I work for Engility Corporation as a 

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.  I am I work with the Garrison Support 
Unit.  They tell me their needs and I tell the UTAG staff, who facilitates getting them 
what they need.  The main issue was the water supply.  I took pictures and took UTAG 
staff around.  I serve as the continuity between units, who rotate frequently.

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

A.  UTAG was the host and USACE and CSTC-A were participants.

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  The Danish did the force protection.  Each general brought in Personal Security 
Detachments /Close Protection Teams of their own.  Some came in the days prior for a 
recon. 

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

A.  I had a guardian angel and I talked to him in my office.  Most of my guardian angels 
have been to these locations before.  I told him of the location we were going.  I took the 
Danish to the site the day prior.  I go to these sites three times a week.

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

A.  I think they were synchronized.  MG Greene’s PSD went to all the locations.  I 
assumed they coordinated.  The Danish pushed out early from the second location to 
go to the MP gate.

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

A.  I didn’t see such a briefing.  I wasn’t within listening range.
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Statement of @hotmail.com ,
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1645 

2 
 

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  There was nothing unusual.  I previously spent a year with an Afghan battalion.  I 
had no concerns.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

A.  I went to LZ and set chairs up.  I had four trucks for chairs so I went out early.  
We stayed at the LZ about 30-40 minutes later than had been planned.  We were at the 
Helicopter Landing Site for 30-40 minutes.  Then we moved to the water tower and were 
there for about 30-40 minutes.  There was no argument.  I had 3 of my 4 interpreters 
with me.  They had been with me for a year.  After the water tower we ended up at the 
Russian entrance to the ECP.  There are T-walls on Qargha road.  We went to the 
underground water storage tank facility.  The pump runs hot, so 2 people must be in the 
facility at all times and they live in there.  We needed to show key leaders that they 
needed to fix it.  It supplies water for the entire area.  We spent about 35-40 minutes in 
the facility then went to the incident site.  

Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  I took several pictures and moved around the location.  When the shooting started I 
was behind the road guard arm.  An ANA guard brought me to an entrance in the inner 
section of the barracks and pushed me through a door and to a room with a window and 
signaled for me to go through the window.  The shooting outside sounded sustained.  I 
heard additional shots inside the building. There were 2-3 minutes between the outside 
firing and the inside firing.  My trucks had been parked up at the intersection and they 
came down and began loading wounded onto the back.  My truck took MG Greene to 
the HLS along with his PSD.  One had dropped off chairs and was returning.  I didn’t 
notice a green truck on the side of the building when I came out the window.  My trucks 
made several trips between the site, the HLS, and the medical center.  The last truck 
came back and I called off the roof, along with and the 
photographer.  There were no casualties left.  The Danish were on site when I left and I 
returned to the base.  I saw the NMA general and the injured female.  I hadn’t seen 
anything unusual.  Sometimes I go down with just me and a guardian angel.  The stop 
at the incident site was not planned. has my statement.  He had everyone 
make up statements.    
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Camp Qargha 8/16/14 at 1342

Interpreter / Driver

Works for -- Has been at Camp Qargha since 2011. 

He learned about the visit on Saturday (2 August).  He went with and PSD 
to do a site recon.  He then goes every day to MFNDU with . 

On 3 August (Sunday)… Went again with US Army PSDs ( ) along the same route.  Drove 
MPs from site to site - They asked him what he was doing, but instructed him 
not to let MPs know who was coming.  Walked to water tank that day, ANA normally always 
there.

He knew the shooter – Mentioned that 6 months before the shooting he (Rafuqullah) was at 
South ECP, and they used to bring him candy and soda. used to escort people through the 
South ECP, and used to shake hands to Rafuqullah.  Once the South ECP closed, he never saw 
him again.  He doesn’t know any of his friends – (R) was usually sitting at South ECP alone, 
some days he was happy, sometimes not.  South ECP closed about 8 months ago. 

On Sunday or Monday went to site three times -- Showed Did 3 to 4 different recons 
to same place within a couple of days.

He knows every location on Camp Qargha. 

He studied English at Kabul Institution.

They went to HZ, he was the lead vehicle in the convoy.  After finished at HZ, they went to Blue 
water tank -- there were 40 vehicles behind him.  He stayed in the car while they were briefing at 
the blue tank.  Then went to South ECP, everybody went to water tank (lead vehicle again). 

The truck by the building was already there when he pulled up.  A PSD asked him for directions, 
as he was giving directions shots were fired. 

Everybody got down, was running up the hill, came up running up the hill. 3 or 
4 US personnel went to his vehicle that had been injured.  Took them to Camp Qargha.  One 
PDS, two Army, one female Interpreter, .  Everyone was hurt 
except the interpreter.  Made trip back to site with a PSD.  

As soon as he got back a asked him to translate inside the building.  He wanted to 
know the name of the shooter.  Another PSD told him to stop and not go any further. 

He drove to the HLZ.  He covered the area with his vehicle - asked where the other HZ was 
located.  10 minutes later the helos arrived at the sites.  UK QRF came and directed them to go to 
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the other HLZ.  Helped take MG Greene into back of the truck for movement to HLZ, then Helo 
arrived.   

He went back to the office. 

At 1600 went with back to GSU. called 
and asked him to bring to his office.  Once he arrived he was called by MG 

Rasashi to meet him at the site.  He drove with his dad to the site and dropped them off.  
He waited there for about 20-30 minutes.   

One of the guys had contact with shooter.  He went back on Thursday to site -  A prisoner was 
yelling “Let me out” real loud.   

He frequently saw Rafuqullah.  When he would go through the gate, if offered 
Rafuqullah a drink or snack, Rafuqullah wouldn’t take it from him, but if offered it, he 
would take it. 

Rafuqullah once asked him why he was working with the US Army.  He didn’t say why didn’t 
like Americans.  explained why he worked with US Army, that it was his job, and was 
working for US Army as well as for Afghanistan. 

A lot of cadets complained and asked him why he works for the US Army.  A lot of cadets say 
that he’s working with non-Muslim guys.  He had an altercation with a cadet (grabbed him by 
the shirt). told him not to argue with cadets or anything like that.  Thinks they’re not 
showed respect at home.  

Some of his friends called him the day of the incident to see if he was ok. 

A lot of ANA guys are not very disciplined. 

They shower once every 3 to 4 days 

Rafuqullah listened to Indian, and Parsi songs 
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I heard there was a shooter and some wounded.

I drove down to the wounded to help out.

I got some of the wounded on cars and i got into a car to with 2 wounded and drove into qargha 
med center and helped out the doctors. 
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Shootout at MFNDU (Marshal Fahim National Defence University) TUE 5th of August 2014 

Until approx.  1150 – 1155 all had gone well regarding FP. 
 
At the site, when the shooting began my position was between the green shed and the low T-bone wall pointing 
towards route orange. My position was 4 – 5 meters from the crowd. My head had direction away from the crowd 
towards the green area EAST of the site. Arch: right side of the guard house to green shed. 
 
My first reaction was to kneel down and instantly release safety on my rifle and shout to the crowd to get down. I 
shouted it loud three times while I was orienteering myself to find the shooters position. The sound was 
tremendously loud since I did not wear earplugs. I could see people civilian and military US and Afghan, falling in 
the crown 4-5 meters from me. 
 
I could not find out where the shooting was coming from due to the reflection of the sound in between the walls 
and the houses on the site.  
 
I went backwards searching for cover near by the green shed, while I shouted to people from the crowd to come 
my way. I then I started to drag/push people inside the shed amongst them BG GN Shah (commander FMNDU) 
While I was still trying to watch to find the shooter, I told people to move on, to the other site of the shed through 
the door (I knew that area was secure because I had been there two times during the briefing to check out 
whether it was still secure. I shouted to and American soldier to secure in the direction “route orange” on the 
other side of the wall he had a pistol drawn. He later on came back shouting he was “shot in the ass”. I took a quick 
look at him and told him he was not bleeding and to go securing again. 
 
I went low out of the shed and shouted at the people at the roof where the shooting was coming from (while there 
was shooting) but they said they did not know. 
 
I then went inside the shed again to see to the wounded persons I had three, one bleeding massively from his right 
leg one American soldier shot in the “behind” as mentioned above and an Afghan 

shot in the “love handles, the head (touch shot) and through his hand”. I realized that the general was the one 
with the severest wound; he needed to get at tourniquet instantly. There was also and an American soldier who 
came and asked me how bad he was wounded, he had a touch shot above his elbow. 
 
The shooting had just stopped when I again shouted where the shooting was coming from, one of the guys from 
the roof, one from the Australian sniper team shouted to me it came from inside the building, I saw to the 
wounded again and ran outside to get tourniquets and bandages, I did not know if the shooting had completely 
stopped, but if I stayed low I could avoid the windows in the house, I ran to the T-bone wall again asking where the 
shooting was coming from. At that time the shooting had been stopped for approx.  45 sec – 1 minute. 
 
I had bandages and tourniquets thrown down from the roof and went to the green shed to start the treatment of 
the wounded. The wounded was then evacuated successively I myself extracted right after and went to the guard 
building being part of the security there both outside and inside. 
 

Danish Army 
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STATEMENT BY

On Tuesday the 5th August and I were conducting an overwatch task primarily with 
the Danish UTAG group. After finishing one task at the large water tank near the range we moved 
position to the main entry point of the MFNDU. There was a large group of ISAF and ANA Generals and 
other high ranking officers and civilians in attendance, our task was to overwatch route Orange and high 
vantage points to our front to mitigate and prevent incoming fire from that direction. and I 
were both armed with H&K 417 rifles as well as binoculars and laser range finders and had occupied the 
roof of what I presumed to be the guardhouse. At about 12 midday the officers and their PSD teams 
were crowded around in the open getting a brief when an individual opened fire, the first burst was 6 or 
8 rounds automatic fire. I realized the firer was close and observed the second 6 to 8 round burst, I 
yelled out a target indication from the roof and tried in vain to bring my weapon to bear on the window 
that was shielding the firer. I think the Danish Platoon Commander heard my target indication and he 
promptly fired into the window along with (I think) a wounded American soldier, the incoming fire from 
those individuals silenced the gunman. At this time on the ground people were dragging the wounded to 
cover and performing initial care under fire, asked me if he could go down with his combat 
first aid kit to help, I told him to stay on the roof as overwatch as security on the ground was diverted 
helping the wounded, I also told him to throw his kit off the roof for someone else to use, I also threw 
some of my own kit off the roof to be used. After some time the building below us was cleared and 
secured, at the same time the casualties were being loaded into SUVs and evacuated to Camp Qargha. 
There were 2 civilians on the roof with us so when things had settled down I escorted them off the roof 
and into their vehicle which evacuated the scene, I then moved back onto the roof to provide security. 
Myself, and a Danish soldier stayed on the roof until the scene was handed over to 
the ANA and we got the order to collapse the position, on the way out I conducted a quick search for 

first aid kit, to no avail, we then moved tactically back to our SUV and moved back to Camp 
Qargha  
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Statement by 

On Tuesday the 5th of August and I were tasked to provide overwatch for a meeting that 
was to occur on 3 different sites, the first 2 sites there were no problems. We arrived at the 3rd site 
which was the old Main entry point overlooking route orange, the Danish CSM , 2 
civilians and  myself moved up a rear set of stairs onto the building overlooking the area and route 
orange, everything was going fine, no one suspicious getting around, the convoy arrived and moved 
straight onto site and into the bunker, some time went by and the group exited the bunker, one of the 
civilians then started giving a brief on a project, as it had finished he had asked for questions, there were 
none, he then asked for some individuals to join him up the front, then a burst from a weapon went off. 
All of us hit the ground and crawled for a  small sand bagged area on the roof, there was the initial fire 
and then some rounds were fired at the shooter, which was one of the Danish officers and an injured 
American, myself and took up fire positions and started scanning for threats over route 
orange, at the same time the Casualties were being dragged into vehicles and driven away I asked

if he wanted me to go onto the ground and help treat because I am a qualified Combat First 
Aider, he said stay on the roof so I threw down my CFA Kit to some of the people treating the Casualties. 
We both also threw down our personal First aid supplies, then escorted the 2 civilians on 
the roof down to waiting vehicles, on his return we both returned to scanning over the wall and into 
route orange for any additional threats ,once the last Casualties Were moved we were told to move 
back to the vehicles, before leaving did a look over the area to look for my CFA kit, it was 
not found, we then moved back to the Vehicles and made our way back to camp Qargha. 

 

 

15 Aug 2014. 
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Statement of 1st Battalion Coldstream Guards, Victoria 
Barracks, Windsor, Camp Qargha, 20140808 1530  

1 
 

Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am the .  There are 3 platoons 
and we rotate – one week on QRF, one on guard, and one on force protection.

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.  I was the QRF commander.  I was told that up to 12 starts going to the site for a 
conference.  They were bringing in their own force protection.  

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

A.  All stars have their own CPTs but there is no means of communicating between 
them.  There was no coordination of the QRF with the PSDs/CPTs.

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  I didn’t notice anything.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

A.  Our mission was to support the UTAG with QRF if necessary.  I sent my QRF 
corporal out to recce the site the night prior to get eyes on, as they aren’t familiar with 
that portion (by the gate).  Each week we probably have one star visit.  The day prior, 
the site was OK’d.  The QRF cleared the firing range and handed it over to the mentors 
at around 0715.  At 0800 we secured the KSPAN HLS until the Danes arrived.  We
cleared the area around the storage tank with a dog at around 0945 and had the 
Australian sharpshooters with us.  The sharpshooters left, but returned some time later.
Our plan was to hand over the area to the UTAG (Danes), but we didn’t link up.  We 
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Statement of 1st Battalion Coldstream Guards, Victoria 
Barracks, Windsor, Camp Qargha, 20140808 1530  

2 
 

didn’t know the group was leaving the wire.  My team searched with the dog behind the 
building.  When the Danes didn’t show up after an hour, the TOC told them to collapse 
back in.  We had searched for IEDs/UXO.  The Danes had a PMR (hand-held radio) but 
we didn’t have any communication with them on this day. For the British, the PMR is 
the secondary means of communication. was who had asked for the QRF to 
search with the dogs.  When the initial group came in the QRF was to secure the 
KSPAN HLS until the Danes came, then the QRF return to base.

Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  At lunch, I heard the call sign for QRF and went to the TOC.  My team went to the 
E HLS.  Every three weeks we train on MASCAL – we are very well rehearsed.  At 1225 
we secured the E HLS.  Casualties began to come – first were 3 CAT As.  We lined up 
the casualties and helped with first aid and security.  We changed the frequency to 
SCAGNET in the clear but we could get no communication with the helicopters.  
The TOC told us they would arrive in 20 minutes.  The quads went to get more 
casualties and they brought two more CAT As and one CAT B.  There are soldiers in 
QRF An Australian team was driving by and we waved them over to assist with the 
CASEVAC. QRF went to the KSPAN HLS after picking up the Danes.  The first 
helicopters came in to the E HLS.  Three landed, we loaded them, and they left.  After 
the helicopters took off, Americans came and reported that there were others down at 
the KSPAN HLS.  A CAT A and 2 CAT Bs arrived and there was more air inbound.  
CPTs and an American general were trying to get out on the lift.  The CAT B was 
Afghan.  His aide wanted to go with him, so the QRF searched him and allowed him to 
travel.  I didn’t know the Americans on the KSPAN HLS had popped smoke. 

did CPR on MG Greene but he passed away.  When the additional helicopters 
arrived, I sent the 2 CAT B on the first and the CAT A (MG Greene on the second) 
because he had already passed away.  The American general and PSD and the Afghan 
general got onto the second helicopter.  We tried to figure out what to do with the CAT 
Cs.  A call sign for Phoenix came up and wanted a SITREP.  I had to deconflict with the 
American general, who was trying to get on ahead of the casualties.  The CAT Cs were 
OK.  They waited in the vehicles.  I was exchanging information with the TOC.  We 
waited too long so I suggested a road move.  We waited around 45 minutes.  There 
were 5 CAT Cs.  Three Australian vehicles could take them.  The TOC cleared them to 
go, so I briefed them.  The 3 most serious CAT Cs were placed in one vehicle and 2 
were placed in the other so they could be treated.  QRF medics went with them.  I 
debriefed with my guys, then the TOC, then we did a proper debriefing that evening.  I 
have been here since January 30 of this year. 

I am going to be promoted to 
tomorrow.  
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Statement of I Coldstream Guards, Victoria Barracks, Windsor, 
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1615  

1 
 

Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am the

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.  I was informed at 1630 the day prior that 13 stars were coming to the location.

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

A.  The Danish and the UTAG had overall C2 and we provided QRFs .  

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  The Danes were responsible for FP.  

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

A.  The QRF was integrated but we needed better commo between nations.  The QRF 
has PMR (a hand-held radio) and Bowman (typical British radio system).  We had no 
communication with any others.  

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  The J2 briefed that the inherent threat that was from magnetic IEDs.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

A.  The night prior we conducted a recce with the Australian snipers and the Danes at 
the NMA gate.  The first knowledge I had of any casualties was when they showed up at 
the gate.
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Statement of I Coldstream Guards, Victoria Barracks, Windsor, 
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1615  
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Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  I was the commander of QRF and I was in the Immediate Reaction Force room.  
The guard commander warned me of casualties so I went to the OPS room.  People 
didn’t know they were coming.  I then went to the medical center.  Sirens sounded.  I 
waved other casualties into the medical center.  The medical team was formed so I 
went back to OPS to await tasks for QRF .  I told to go secure the HLS 
with QRF . told me to move to the incident point.  
came in my vehicle.  We met up with Brigadier Russell and the Danes at the NMA gate.  
I discussed with the Danes what had happened.  They told me what had happened and 
that the gunman had been killed.  Brigadier Russell talked to some high-ranking 
Afghans on-site for a couple of minutes.  I told Brigadier Russell that they needed to 
move back and I sent the Danes back.  Brigadier Russell went to the ANOA HQ and 
conducted another KLE with General Sharifi for 3 or 4 minutes.  was having 
trouble at the HLS.  The TOC told him to go to the KSPAN HLS where Americans were 
waiting with casualties and several CAVs (NTVs), but I was enroute and went, instead.  
There was a CAT A and 2 CAT B casualties.  MG Greene was on a stretcher.  The 
Americans were throwing green smoke onto the KSPAN HLS and they needed the helo 
to land.  We couldn’t talk to the Blackhawks, so we decided to move the casualties to 
the E HLS.  We arrived at the E HLS and I dismounted and acted as a litter bearer and 
took the casualties to (the doctor).  The medics took over.  I tried to 
control the situation and disperse the crowd.  An American general tried to get on the 
helicopter.  MG Greene wasn’t breathing and there were 3 or 4 medics working on him.  
There were 2 CAT As when we arrived at the E HLS.  They left on a helo, then MG 
Greene went on a helo.  We waited with the CAT Cs for about 45 minutes.  When it 
became apparent the helicopters weren’t coming for them, we decided to send them on 
a ground movement with the Australians in Bushmasters. 
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Statement of 1st Battalion Coldstream Guards, 
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1315  
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Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am an 
I have three squads and three sections along with a 54-man Australian 

FP company.  We support the UTAG, the mentors, FP, and QRF missions, generally.

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.  UTAG, under was facilitating a 9 star visit relating to water service.  
UTAG was to provide FP and the rest of us in the camp assisted in the visit.

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  A Danish officer named , who recently took over in the last three weeks.

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

A.  The FP visited the location of the events, but I thought it strange that there was no 
coordination.  The PSDs conducted various recons, but there was no overall plan.

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  There was no particular J2 info or indicators.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  Casualties showed up at the front gate.  The platoon sergeant informed me when 
the casualties arrived.  I grabbed my kit and got into a quad (small ATV used for 
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MEDEVAC) and I went to the Role 1 MTF. gave a SITREP.  I arranged 
transport between the Role 1 and the HLS.  We used a MIST report (9 line MEDEVAC) 
and input it into JTAP.  We got a report that wheels would be down in 20 minutes.  
There were 6 CAT As that were evac’d to the HLS.  The Role 1 usually doesn’t take 
MASCAL.  The immediate first aid appeared to be lifesaving.  The PSDs/CPTs hindered 
evacuation so I tried to get them to push out and do site security.  An American PSD 
threw a taped smoke onto the HLS.  Vehicles were lined up at the main entry point – 
twenty plus vehicles trying to get into the camp, but it didn’t slow down my evac 
because the quad was maneuverable. was a hero – he
remained cool-headed and directed events.  secured the HLS and passed 
along info to the OPS room.  Also, the new 
doctor performed heroically.  
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Statement of Qargha Force Protection Company 
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1230  
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Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am the under .

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.  It was the MFNDU project board visit, according to the 
Brigadier’s military assistant.  The information is passed through MS Office’s calendar 
function and we were told that there were no FP or transportation requirements on the 
calendar invitation.  We knew Major General Bathurst was in attendance because he is 
part of the Welsh Guards.

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

A.  UTAG was responsible, but I was aware that other groups had people coming in for 
the event.  I don’t know if an overall C2 had been established.

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  Individual PSD teams were in charge of their own FP and there was no coordination.

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so, 
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  I didn’t notice anything.  I mostly remain in the camp.  Advisors will normally send 
back threat reports and nothing had been raised.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

A.  We had a tasking to clear a couple of areas and the company commander took care 
of that.
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Statement of Qargha Force Protection Company 
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1230  
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Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  I received a casualty report – had received a call from the 
guardroom that a casualty was coming in the main entry point.  I thought it was minor, 
since we hadn’t received any incident report.  I went to the OPS room and heard that 
there were 5 CAT As.  The Danes had signed out a PMR (hand-held radio) but they 
didn’t send in an incident report, as they had left the radio in the vehicle.  If we had 
received a report, we could have sent the QRF and an ambulance to help with the 
evacuation.  We use the RC MEDEVAC process and the SOI outlines the MEDEVAC 
plan.  We tried to get on ISAF Secret and channels, since RC-Central has a chat 
room.  RC-East has a MEDEVAC page but we couldn’t get the request sent.  We called 
the rotary wing desk at IJC but there was no answer.  We also called the CJOC and the 
shift director and there were no answers.  We eventually called our UK HQ and relayed 
the 9 liner to them and they were able to post it on the RC-East MEDEVAC page and 
we received an estimate for 20 minutes wheels down.  The QRF was sent to secure the 
E HLS (Qargha South).  The company sergeant major began to conduct the MASCAL 
drill.  The platoon commander ( was with the QRF securing the HLS.  

was on the HLS.  We used smoke to mark the LZ.  We sent the other QRF to the 
KSPAN HLS to tell them to cut their smoke, as they were marking the wrong HLS.  
There were three NTVs south and east of the HLS and they were using green smoke to 
mark it.  The QRF moved them to the other HLS.  had been looking for 
communications to report to someone, so I have him a mobile phone.  He reported that 
“he’s not in a good way.”  By the time the second MEDEVAC call went out, the first load 
of casualties was gone.  We canceled the next life and evacuated the CAT Cs via 
ground movement.  In total, there were 9 by air on 2 lifts, and five by ground.  They 
were evacuated in less than 25 minutes from the first call.  We processed spot reports 
(our requirement is within one hour) then developed a storyboard (within four hours – 
it’s our synchronization report).
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Statement of 1st Battalion Coldstream Guards, 
Camp Qargha, 20140808 1105  
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Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am the for the FP company.  I provide security for UTAG, FP 
to ANOA, coordinate with the ANSF, provide guardian angels to the mentors, and 
command Camp Qargha.

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

A.   I was aware of the 13 star meeting – it was the MFNDU project board and they were 
looking at water and infrastructure.

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

A. rom UTAG.  This was his visit – he has a UTAG FP team – the Danes 
and Germans.  The Danes had asked for snipers and we provided Australian 
marksmen.  We agreed to secure the KSPAN HLS, as that was where they were to 
arrive.  We also cleared the range and had a FP team for the instructors overseeing the 
range package.

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  All guardian angels were to be on duty. Normally, there are 5 but we increased it to 
7.  It was only prudence – there was no specific threat.  We also upped our posture – 
we had large plates, helmets and gloves.

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

A.  Basically, everyone has to take a radio and submit a flap sheet with their roster, 
location, times, etc.  There was no coordination with the PSDs.  They don’t own 
anything on the ANSF site, so they wouldn’t be in charge of securing it.  From my 
perspective, we were supporting UTAG.

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

A.  There was no safety briefing given on the site.  Generally, I have an actions on 
contact brief but that was not done in this case, as this was a UTAG mission.
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Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

A.  The Garrison Support Unit commander had previously asked for maps and wanted 
to improve coordination.  The New Zealand senior J2 NCO tried to give him maps that 
morning but he waited outside the GSU commander and XO’s office for an hour.  We 
later received reports through the mentor that Rafiquella wanted to go to the site for the 
visit.

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

A.  The GSU provides site security for the entire site.  We previously provided them a 
security estimate of the site.  The other units on site provided their own QRF.  The 
sectors are divided like a clock.  We provided clearance for the HLS, but discovered the 
HLS wasn’t used.  UTAG also asked us to secure the submerged tank and it was done 
with a dog.  The previous night we had arranged for the QRF to link up with the Danes 
on the site.  The QRF arrived on the site at 0945, but the Danes never showed.  The 
QRF cleared it and left at 1145 and returned to base.  I had spoken to the UTAG XO to 
see where the site visit was.  Five people were living in the pump room so the pump 
doesn’t burn out.  There were up to 76 pax on the visit.  said he counted 56 
pax.  In hindsight, I would have been concerned with a slow moving target without 
protection.

Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  I got a message from the guard room that a casualty was coming in.  A contractor 
had been on the phone and reported a shooting at the GSU gate (actually it was the 
NMA gate).  I discovered 5 more casualties and went to coordinate CASEVAC.  We 
kicked in the rehearsed process.  The QRF was sent out to secure the E HLS.  I never 
received a contact report and people gave information as they came in.  I phoned KSU 
(UK HQ) and arranged for overhead aviation support.  Brigadier Bruce arrived and I 
informed him and he linked up with MG Bathurst.  The Danes were still on site.  He 
thought there might be a second shooter on site so he wanted the Danes back.  QRF 2 
went with Brigadier Bruse to get the Danes. was covered in blood and 
trying to find MG Greene on the phone.  Casualties had left and he saw an American 
team.  He spoke to a LT – MG Greene’s PSD.  We swung the PTDS and saw vehicles 
circling the KSPAN HLS.  I tasked QRF 2 to get the Americans off the wrong HLS and 
they moved them to the E HLS.  The doctor received MG Greene. and 
the PSD were trying to get MEDEVAC on the phone. The Americans were throwing 
purple smoke while the British were throwing green smoke.  MG Greene was on the 
second wave.  5 medics and 2 doctors worked on him and there were 9 rounds of CPR.  

declared him deceased at 1304.  The Danes secured the crime scene 
until Brigadier Russell retrieved them at 1234.  The Danish FP LT saw the shooter.  The 
GSU commander and Brigadier Bruce exchanged friendly words and he apologized for 
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one of their MPs being killed.  They told him no need to apologize.  They said that MP 
was worse than a Taliban.  The Afghan generals seemed distraught after the event.
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 STATEMENT BY NZ ARMY 

 

I, have been employed as the at the Qargha 
Operations Room, since 1 March 2014.  On the 5 Aug 14 at approximately 1218hrs I 
was in my accommodation room (as I do not start shift until 1400hrs) when
(CISU CPL), came and told me to get to the OPS Room there had been a Green on Blue, 
as I was running towards the OPS Room, I saw (new Watchkeeper) and 
he told me the same thing, that a Green on Blue had occurred. 

I got to the OPS Room at Approximately 1220hrs, and received a quick update from 
the 2IC on what had occurred.  I then immediately jumped into the 
Watchkeepers Chair and started completing the 9-Liner.  had informed 
me that rc_e_medevac was not working, nor the RC-E PECC ISAF SECRET phone, 
and to send everything to KSU and on . At 1223hrs I sent the 9-Liner to 
KSU (Ax5, Bx5 and Cx5), and then rung them straight away to ensure that they had 
received it and passed it on to RC-E PECC.   I sent that all CAS where GSW (as we had 
no information from the Med Cell).  At 1233hrs the numbers changed to Ax5, Bx1 and 
Cx5. 

At Approximately 1234hrs I checked with if I could restart to try 
and get the rc_e_medevac room back open (to see the W/U, W/D weather status etc.) 
QAA J2 who was in the OPS Room had his up and it was on KSU and .  
Our went down and restarted and we were then able to receive all updates from 
rc_e_medvac. 

At 1235hrs on rc_e_medvac we received W/U from IJC PECC AE LNO, and I notified the 
Med Centre and the CAS started to head out to the EHLS. At Approximately 1240hrs 
the PTDS was looking at the K-SPAN (other HLS for QAA) and we noticed a convoy of 
CAV’s there, as soon as the Helo’s started to come in they threw smoke to attrach the 
Helo’s (they Helo’s went straight to the EHLS (the Grid we and provide to for the 9-
Liner and where the QRF and CAS from the MTF where.)  We then deployed QRF to 
head up to the K-Span to get those CAV’s and to see if they had any CAS.  

The x Helo’s loaded all CAT A and CAT B’s from the EHLS and departed 1255hrs. Once 
the Helo’s departed we then learnt that the CAV’s that were at the K-SPAN had 1x CAT 
A and 2x CAT B we immediately requested KSU to notify RC-E-PECC (at this stage we 
still could not ring them) to get some more Helo’s.  They got a hold of RC-E-PECC and 
the x Helo’s where 20mins out at 1300hrs. 

By this stage the 5x CAT C’s where at the med centre and we were planning a Road 
move to KAIA N (Role 2.5).  The Helo’s landed at approximately 1319hrs and departed 
at 1325hrs (1x CAT A and 2xCAT B). 
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Therefore by 1325hrs we had extracted 6x CAT A, 3x CAT B, and still had 5x CAT C’s at 
the MTF (they were in the Vehicles ready to Road Move to KAIA-N.)

During this time (1220-1325hrs) I received many phone calls from KSU (our Higher HQ) 
about the Nationalities of the CAS.  I did not know this information, the medic’s where 
too busy to assist, and I knew that once the CAS has been extracted then I would be 
able to get this information.  I spoke to the KSU Watchkeepr ( ), the KSU , 
the KSU Coy Comd and the KSU CO ), who were all demanding then I 
request this information ASAP.  I simply did not have that info nor could I get it until 
the Medic’s had finished. I sent a runner at about 1330hrs once the medics had 
returned to the Camp from the EHLS.  

The whole time I would pass all information onto the COY COMD, OPSO and the

KSU then rung and wanted a consolidated list of CAS and who we had left, we told 
them and said there was 5xCAT C left at our Loc, and that we would Road Move them 
to KAIA-N (Role 2.5), they sent back NO, they would request another Helo packet to 
uplift them and get the CAS to the EHLS.  I rung the MTF and noticed them, then told 
QRF to remain in place (they were about to move from the EHLS). The CAS got the  
EHLS at approximately 1340hrs.  I asked for regular updates for the time of the Helo’s 
and finally I got a message from KSU that there was no more Air Assists. We then 
immediately stood to the road move to KAIA-N (Role 2.5) they picked up the CAS from 
the EHLS on their way.  I rung the IJC Med Ops, KANOC Ops (Battle CAPT) and IJC OPS 
(Battle CAPT) to notify them that 5x CAT C’s were on their way and I gave the Battle 
CAPT’s the VRN’s off the PMV’s that’s was conducting the Patrol to KAIA-N. At 1455hrs 
the CAS arrived at the KAIA-N (Role 2.5).  Therefore from 1220hrs-1455hrs we had 
extracted all CAS to either BAF or KAIA-N (Role 2.5). 

 

I verify that the above statement is true and correct and I am happy to be questioned 
in relation to this statement. 

 

 

     August 14 
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Statement of 1st Battalion Coldstream Guards, 
Kabul Support Unit (GBR), Camp Souter, 20140813 1345  

1 
 

The first report we received was “contact at Qargha – wait out.”  We sent the info on 
KSU At the same time we were sending info to PAC @ RC-E and IJC. 
is the primary method of communicating.  TF2 Fury sent a 9 liner on
(TAAC-C) and sent coordinates for the KSPAN HLS.  We had good comms through

and send coordinates for the EHLS.  We also had the feed for the PTDS that had 
scanned over.  We phoned IJC and reported MASCAL and that it was over the limit of 3 
CAT As at Qargha.  who was our former LNO, called the CJOC.  We got 
some questions, such as “What bldg?” from IJC.  We were also on the phone with 

Camp Qargha.  A COL from IJC was confused about whether the incident 
was at Qargha or Souter and why Souter would be calling.  We were also on the phone 
with COMISAF’s office, DCOMISAF’s office, and the Embassy.  We tried to talk to NTM-
A, who has a BDOC, but they weren’t really a factor in the process.  There was 
confusion at PJHQ with the press based on IJC reports.  We tried to get the flap sheets 
– there was no clear C2 to ensure who was accounted for.  We had a QRF here, but 
didn’t launch them.  The BN OPS room for Kabul Support Unit is run by the company on 
behalf of the BN.  Whose job within ISAF is it to respond?  Who is responsible for which 
area?  IJC basically owns everything.  KNOC and TAAC-C are not responsive.  We 
have coordination authority with TAAC-C but operational control with IJC.  With rotary 
MEDEVAC, we go straight to RC-E rotary.  PAC WIJC has an interest, as well.  The 
system worked, but questions remain and C2 of MEDEVAC was clumsy.  We need 
clear lines.  Clumsy uncertainty – people didn’t seem to take it seriously.  Two and one 
half hours later, we were unsure whether we had 2 or 3 casualties.  Our Soldiers carry a 
MIST card with our ZAP # and a 9 liner template.  We have an LNO at TF Volunteer - 
our .  MEDEVAC from RC-E was superb.  
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Statement of Senior Medical Officer, Role 1 MTF, Camp 
Qargha, 20140808 1425  

1 
 

Q. What is your duty description?

A.  I am the and I have a specialty (residency) in general practice 
(family practice).

Q. What was the purpose of the event you attended at MFNDU and what was your 
role?

Q. Who was the host of the event, and who was overall responsible for command and 
control?

Q. Who was responsible for planning, coordinating and executing force protection 
measures in support of this event?

A.  I don’t know about the planning.  The Danish had asked me for a stretcher the day 
prior so they could put it in the back of the vehicle.  I had told them to get with the QRF 
and to coordinate for use of the ambulances.

Q. Did you have a PSD/CPT Assigned to you?  Did you have a Guardian Angel?  If so,
how many?  Were they trained?  What instructions did you give to them?

Q. Were the efforts of your PSD/CPT/Guardian Angels coordinated with others, or 
synchronized as part of an overall force protection plan? 

Q. Did you receive a security brief upon arrival at the site that day?  If so, how effective 
was the security plan briefing?  Did it cover medical evacuation and the location of the 
nearest medical treatment facility?

Q. Did you notice anything unusual with the atmospherics at MFNDU…any body 
language or other behavior that could be viewed as hostile?

Q. Please describe the events that took place from your initial arrival through the final 
stop where the incident occurred.

Q. In your own words, please describe the actions that took place upon arrival at the 
final stop.

A.  We were in the middle of HOTO so we basically had double the staff.  There were 
doctors – general practitioners and junior doctor (between his internship 

and his residency).  Earlier in the morning we had reviewed the MASCAL plan and I had 
told them that if we ever had more than 3 CAT As we would be in trouble because we 
only had 3 beds.  Also, we need 4 medical people per each CAT A.  There had been 
rumors of a pending training exercise – a Citadel, which was an attack on the 
compound.  When the general brought in the first casualty, we thought it was a drill 
because there was blood, but no field dressing.  He told us there were 5 CAT As 
coming behind him.  The female Navy patient had a life-saving field dressing on her 
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Statement of Senior Medical Officer, Role 1 MTF, Camp 
Qargha,

2 
 

groin injury.  She would have died without it.  She had a mangled leg and a groin injury.  
Her life was definitely saved by that bandage.  The British captain had a very good 
dressing on his groin injury.  A patient came in with a GSW to his abdomen and arm.  
Another came in with a GSW to his back – his lower axilla, and his leg.  I apportioned 
medics and doctors to various patients.  I had experience with one previous GSW and 
we had practiced MEDEVAC.  The patients’ ABC (airway, breathing, and circulation) 
were fine and they were all talking.  CAT Cs were coming in and we were directing them 
to the ward and they were performing self-care.  We practice MASCAL monthly.  Many 
of the Soldiers and civilians there didn’t have tourniquets or bandages with them.  On 
the scene they had determined that there were five CAT A casualties and they were 
correct.  An Afghan general had a tourniquet but the medic was able to release it and he 
became a CAT B.  Normally, the Royal Electrical Mechanical Engineers are the extra 
labor for MASCAL – such as stretcher-bearers, but the new unit hadn’t train on it yet.  
Also, we had no way to notify them, since we don’t have a MASCAL announcement 
system.  One of the doctors had to run up and get them.  None of the patients had zap 
numbers (battle roster numbers).  The British use the first two letters of their last name 
and the last four numbers of their service number.  There was no consistency within the 
coalition with the injury cards and zap numbers.  On the camp, everyone rehearses 
MASCAL and knows the patient flow process.  None of the coalition partners had 
practiced, so some of the patients came in vehicles that brought them to the back 
entrance, rather than the front.  Weapons were also an issue – there were several 
foreign weapons at the ready and that was concerning, so they medics had to move 
them to the side of the room.  There were many people coming in who were not helpful.  
The medical people needed help and were willing to take inexperienced hands, but 
some of the onlookers were unhelpful and really in the way. was shot 
through the butt but carried someone in on his shoulders and was cracking jokes.  I 
went to the HLS.  Once the patients’ bleeding was stopped, I sent them to the HLS 
immediately, rather than packaging them up nicely.  There was no time for niceties, as I 
knew it took about 20 minutes to get a patient to the HLS and I didn’t want the 
helicopters to arrive before the patients.  Additionally, all of them needed a surgeon.  I 
treated the British captain at the HLS.  Each of us have medical bags and we took them.  
The helicopters came up quickly after I arrived.  We haven’t rehearsed loading onto 
Blackhawks but that didn’t seem to be a problem.  There was great difficulty in 
communicating with the crew chief with the noise.  I needed to get some important, non-
obvious patient information to him about the British captains lines that we had attempted 
to insert, but the crew chief couldn’t understand me.  Some stretchers are better than 
others on the Blackhawk and I’m trying to get our ambulance modified so we’re using a 
helicopter-ready stretcher in the back of it.  There was no effective communication with 
the Blackhawks.  This was my first MASCAL as a participant at this level.  I was told 
about another group of patients.  I sent a doctor down to get another set of medical 
supplies.  MG Greene’s PSD had taken him to the other HLS.  They then brought him 
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Statement of Senior Medical Officer, Role 1 MTF, Camp 
Qargha,

3 
 

up to the E HLS – I don’t know exactly how he got there – he just showed up.  He had 
non-survivable injuries.  He had been shot through the brain stem.  His airway was full 
of blood and there was active bleeding.  One medic did a tracheotomy, one medic did 
CPR, and another medic drilled into his leg to get fluids in.  He also had a massive skull 
fracture and his pupils were fixed and dilated.  I believe he had been killed instantly.  He 
arrived at the HLS about 50 minutes after he had been shot.  In my opinion the brain 
stem injury and the obstructed airway were certain to lead to death.  He also had an 
indicator of a pelvic fracture, as his leg was turned inward.  The UK medical team was:

The Australian medical team was:  
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